University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

8-9-2014

The Effects of Arthritis Foundation's "Walk With Ease" Program on Cognitive Function

Ryan S. Falck University of South Carolina - Columbia

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd Part of the <u>Kinesiology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Falck, R. S. (2014). The Effects of Arthritis Foundation's "Walk With Ease" Program on Cognitive Function. (Master's thesis). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/2830

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.



The Effects of Arthritis Foundation's "Walk With Ease" Program on Cognitive Function

by

Ryan S. Falck

Bachelor of Science Occidental College, 2010

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science in

Exercise Science

The Norman J. Arnold School of Public Health

University of South Carolina

2014

Sara Wilcox, Director of Thesis

Steven N. Blair, Reader

James Carson, Reader

Shawn D. Youngstedt, Reader

Lacy Ford, Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies



Abstract

Physical activity (PA) is believed to improve cognitive function, particularly executive function, in older adults. However, few interventions in community settings have been performed to improve executive function through PA. The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of a community-based walking program on executive function in older adults (60+ years). Older adults from senior centers throughout Lexington County, SC were recruited for participation in this intervention. Exclusion criteria included currently exercising >30 minutes and exercising $\ge 2x$ /week or scoring \leq 25 on the Mini-Mental State Exam. The intervention consisted of an evidenced-based community walking program, the Arthritis Foundation's "Walk With Ease", which met two times a week for 9 weeks. Participants were tested at baseline and follow-up on the following measures: executive function (Stroop Color-Word, Trail Making Test A and B, Semantic Fluency, and Phonetic Fluency), physical performance (Timed Up-and-Go, Gait Speed, Chair Stand), depressive symptoms, disease management self-efficacy, and PA levels. Participants also reported demographics and subjective health status. Paired ttests and repeated measures ANOVA were conducted for all outcomes of interest, along with effect sizes. Participants (N=56) were predominantly female (80.4%) and overweight (BMI= 29.81 ± 5.92). No significant improvements for any cognitive function measure or physical performance measure were found following the intervention. Repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant improvement following the intervention for both PA (B=17.79 \pm 5.42 MET hours/week, p<0.01) and disease



ii

management self-efficacy (B= 5.77 ± 2.53 , p=0.03). The results of this community-based single group pretest-posttest study does not provide enough evidence that the WWE is associated with improvements in cognitive function or improvements in physical performance. This study indicates that WWE increases PA levels and disease management self-efficacy of older adults. Larger studies of longer duration may be needed to reveal impacts on cognitive function.



www.manaraa.com

Table of Contents

Abstract ii
List of Tablesv
List of Figures vii
List of Abbreviations viii
Chapter 1: Introduction
Chapter 2: Background
Chapter 3: Methods
Chapter 4: Results
Chapter 5: Discussion
References



List of Tables

Table 3.1 Total Sample Needed to Detect Various Effect Sizes for the Pretest-Posttest Design (Paired t-test)
Table 3.2 WWE Typical Class Schedule
Table 3.3 WWE Weekly Program Schedule and Reading List
Table 3.4 Normative Data for Mean Trail Making Task Times Stratified by Age and Education Level
Table 3.5 Normative Data for Stroop Color Word Scores Stratified by Age, Sex, and Education Level
Table 3.6 Normative Data for Verbal Fluency Scores Stratified by Age and Education Level
Table 3.7 Normative Data for usual Gait Speed (feet/sec) by sex and age group
Table 3.8 Normative Values for Timed Up and Go (sec) by age group33
Table 3.9 Normative Data for Chair Stand Test (stands in 30 seconds) by Age Group and Sex
Table 4.1: Participant Characteristics (N=56) 41
Table 4.2 Baseline and Post-Program Outcome Values 42
Table 4.3 Participant Adherence Rate
Table 4.4 T-test Results with Expected Mean Differences and p-values for Executive Function Tests



Table 4.5 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Executive Function Tests
Table 4.6 T-test Results with Expected Mean Differences and p-values for Physical Performance 44
Table 4.7 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Physical Performance
Table 4.8 T-test Results with Expected Mean Differences and p-values for Self- Efficacy
Table 4.9 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Disease Management Self-Efficacy
Table 4.10 T-test Results with Expected Mean Differences and p-values for Physical Activity
Table 4.11 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Physical Activity
Table 4.12 Results of Repeated Measures Analyses Examining Time x Attendance Interaction for Tests of Executive Function
Table 4.13 Results of Repeated Measures Analyses Examining Time x Attendance Interaction for Physical Performance Tests
Table 4.14 Results of Repeated Measures Analyses Examining Time x AttendanceInteraction for Physical Activity and Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity, andDisease Management Self-Efficacy
Table 4.15 Associations between Changes in Cognition and Changes in Physical Activity
Table 4.16 Associations between Changes in Cognition and Changes in Moderate- Vigorous Physical Activity



List of Figures



List of Abbreviations

ADAS-Cog	Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale – Cognitive Sub-Scale
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
<i>CDC</i>	Centers for Disease Control
CHAMPS	Community Health Activities Model Program for Seniors
Color-CW	
<i>CS</i>	
GDS-15	
<i>GS</i>	
LCRAC	Lexington County Recreation and Aging Commission
<i>MMSE</i>	Mini-Mental State Exam
MVPA	
ND	Neurodegenerative disease
PA	Physical Activity
PARQ	Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire
<i>PF</i>	Phonetic Fluency
SCW	Stroop Color-Word
SF	Semantic Fluency
<i>TMT</i>	Trail Making Test
<i>TUT</i>	
WWE Arthr	itis Foundation's Walk With Ease Arthritis Self-Management Program



Chapter 1

Introduction

The population is rapidly getting older, creating new problems for public health to address (Olson, 2013). This increase in the population's age has caused certain diseases to have a greater effect on the population, such as dementia and Alzheimer's disease, which affect older adults more commonly. In 2010 alone the worldwide cost of dementia was \$604 billion and that number is expected to continue to rise unless an effective treatment or prevention measure is found (Wimo et al., 2013).

One such preventive measure is increasing physical activity (PA) among older adults, a group that tends to be underactive (Schutzer & Graves, 2004). Interventions to increase PA among older adults have been shown to be effective (Conn, Minor, Burks, Rantz, & Pomeroy, 2003) and evidence suggests that increasing PA in older adults can help maintain and even improve cognitive function (Angevaren, Aufdemkapme, Verhaar, Aleman, & Vanhees, 2008). The greatest benefit to cognition from PA (especially aerobic activity) appears to be in improving executive function (Hall, Smith, & Keele, 2001), a broad term used to define planning and problem-solving, a function that also significantly declines in neurocognitive diseases (Perry & Hodges, 1999).

However, relatively few interventions have been performed to examine the relationship between PA and executive function. Questions still remain about the volume, duration, intensity, and even modality that will elicit a substantial improvement, or help



www.manaraa.com

maintain executive function. In addition, few community-based PA interventions have included measures of cognitive health. Community-based interventions among older adults have often been performed in samples with greater education and socio-economic status. The Arthritis Foundation's *Walk With Ease* arthritis self-management program (WWE) is one such community-based PA intervention that has not yet been evaluated for its ability to improve conditions other than arthritis, nor has it been tested in a predominantly rural setting among older adults with less education and lower socioeconomic status. Therefore, it important to determine the effects of WWE on multiple health parameters.

Specific Aim 1: To determine if WWE is an effective program for improving the executive function of underactive older adults at senior centers located in Lexington County, South Carolina.

Hypothesis: It was expected that the aerobic nature of the program, along with the expected increases in PA, would help improve the executive function of participants.

Specific Aim 2: To determine if changes in PA levels were associated with improved cognitive performance.

Hypothesis: It was believed that greater improvements in PA would be associated with greater improvements in cognitive function.

Specific Aim 3: To determine if WWE improved PA levels, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance measures.



Hypothesis: WWE was expected to improve PA levels, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance measures.

Specific Aim 4: To determine if greater attendance was associated with greater improvements in all major outcomes (i.e., executive function, PA levels, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance measures).

Hypothesis: Greater attendance levels were expected to be associated with greater improvements in all outcomes: executive function, PA levels, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance measures.



Chapter 2

Background

Neurodegenerative diseases (ND), such as dementia and Alzheimer's, are debilitating diseases that are quickly becoming a major public health concern. Currently the incidence of ND is unknown because of differing diagnostic approaches, particularly with all-cause dementia (Launer, 2011). Estimates range between 2.6 and 5.2 million cases of Alzheimer's in the United States ("Centers for Disease Control and Prevention," 2011) and the risk of developing Alzheimer's increases with age. Given the aging of the population (Cohen, 2003), more people will be at risk for ND than ever before. Hebert and colleagues estimated that the number of individuals living with Alzheimer's will triple by 2050 unless new discoveries facilitate prevention (Herbert, Scherr, Bienias, Bennett, & Evans, 2003). Cognitive impairment, defined as confusion or memory loss that increases over a 12 month period, is estimated to have a prevalence of 11.9% according to a pilot study by the CDC (CDC, 2009).

ND have a serious impact on the economy as well as individuals and communities. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services estimates that aggregate payments for health care and hospice care for individuals with ND will increase from \$183 billion in 2011 to \$1.1 trillion by the year 2050 (USDHHS, 2003). This growing burden on individuals, families and their communities has caused the Department of Health and Human Services to recognize ND as a major public health problem that severely impacts older adults and caregivers.



According to recent research, PA may slow the rate of cognitive decline (USDHHS, 2008). Many studies have been published on the benefits of PA as it pertains to cognitive health, particularly among older adults. While most studies have been observational in nature, there have been an increasing number of randomized trials that have been conducted.

The following details the current literature on the effects of PA on cognition with an emphasis on the effects of PA on executive function. Literature reviews that have described the effects of PA on cognition are presented first. In addition, individual studies (cross-sectional, cohort and randomized controlled trials) that have examined the effects of aerobic activity on executive function and brain health are also described.

Literature Reviews

A limited number of narrative and meta-analytic reviews have been conducted concerning the effects of PA on cognition in the past 15 years. Earlier reviews have primarily focused on the benefits of PA for cognitive health for all age groups and regardless of disease status. More recently published reviews have also looked primarily at the effects of PA on ND. In addition, more recent reviews have detailed the effects of PA interventions on cognitive health. For classification purposes, reviews published more than 5 years ago (before 2008) are considered *early reviews*, while those published within 5 years (after 2008) are considered *recent reviews*.



Early Reviews

While earlier reviews have generally been broad in their focus (including many different age groups and populations), PA has been positively associated with cognition. Two narrative reviews by Kramer et al. found that improved fitness can enhance the cognitive function of the older adult brain and even prevent cognitive decline (Kramer et al., 2003; Kramer, Colcombe, McAuley, Scalf, & Erickson, 2005). The conclusions from this review were similar to those of Hillman and colleagues; who pointed out that there is converging evidence at the cellular, molecular, behavioral, and systematic levels that suggests that PA participation is beneficial to cognition across all age groups (Hillman, Erickson, & Kramer, 2007). In addition, Kramer and Erickson (Kramer & Erickson, 2007) indicated that aerobic exercise provides multiple routes to enhancing cognitive vitality throughout the lifespan; helping to reduce disease risk, as well as improve molecular, cellular and structural function in the brain. Both the Hillman et al. and the Kramer and Erickson review papers included both animal and human studies that examined the relationship between PA and cognition. In addition, all three of these reviews pointed out that most of the study designs from human trials involved aerobic exercise, with most studies showing a positive relationship between PA and cognitive function. In these review papers the authors pointed out that little was known on how to develop and design interventions that optimize cognitive health. In addition, questions also remained about what the best type of exercise training for brain health may be, as well as what are optimal frequencies, intensities and durations.

These reviews noted that it was unclear whether the molecular mechanisms of exercise are the same for both animals and humans. In addition, the authors pointed out



www.manaraa.com

the importance of studying how cognition can be affected by a variety of lifestyles and pharmacological treatments. Kramer and Erickson (2007) also noted that the benefits and limitations of aerobic exercise in preventing or reversing the cognitive and neural degradation associated with ND are not fully understood. This review concluded that the cognitive operations that are most affected by aerobic exercise are not fully known. Most importantly, all three reviews underscored that it is still unclear how the benefits of exercise seen in the laboratory translate to the outside world of aerobic exercise.

Two meta-analyses have also found positive associations between PA and cognition in older adults. Colcombe and Kramer (S. Colcombe & Kramer, 2003) found in their meta-analysis, which included randomized controlled trials from 1966-2001 for adults over the age of 55, that aerobic fitness training has a robust and beneficial influence on the cognition of sedentary older adults. Fitness training increased cognitive performance significantly (effect size=0.48), regardless of the type of cognitive task, training method or characteristics of the participants. Furthermore, the cognitive benefits of fitness were greatest for tests of executive function (effect size=0.68). Etnier and colleagues found smaller, but still significant results in a meta-regression analysis (Etnier, Nowell, Landers, & Sibley, 2006), with an effect size of d=0.34.

Positive benefits of PA on cognition are even larger for older individuals with cognitive impairment or dementia (Heyn, Abreu, & Ottenbacher, 2004). A medium effect size (d=0.57) was found in a review of the effects of exercise training on cognition in older adults with ND or cognitive impairment. Although the effect size of this review appears extremely promising, only 12 studies were included in the review.



Recent reviews

While the few recent reviews have generally made similar conclusions regarding the association of PA and cognition (Ahlskog, 2011; Erickson, Weinstein, & Lopez, 2012), more of these reviews have examined the effects of PA on preventing and retarding ND. In addition, reviews published recently have also examined the effects of PA interventions on older adults to improve cognition.

A meta-analysis by Hamer and Chida found that increased levels of PA were associated with reduced risk of ND (Hamer & Chida, 2009). Specifically, they found that the relative risk of Alzheimer's disease and all-cause dementia were 0.55 and 0.72 (both statistically significant), respectively, when comparing the highest and lowest PA levels. In addition, PA lowered dementia and Alzheimer's disease risk by 28% and 45% respectively. While these findings provide strong evidence that PA can prevent ND, the authors note that it is not clear at what stage in an individual's life PA is most important for protection. Moreover, the timing of the PA assessment may be critical in relation to neurodegeneration. What is also unclear, say Hamer and Chida, is the optimal dose of PA for cognitive protection.

While Hamer and Chida's meta-analysis is the only recent one in the literature, several narrative reviews have examined the effects of PA on cognition in randomized trials. In a review of clinical trials of both animals and humans, Leckie and colleagues found that PA is effective at enhancing brain function by increasing gray matter and also influencing gene expression; although the genetic and physiological mechanisms still remain unclear (Leckie, Weinstein, Hodzic, & Erickson, 2012). In addition, many genetic and behavioral factors may attenuate or augment that result, such as diet or genetic levels



of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF); both of which have been linked to cognition. Another recent review found that PA and cognitive enhancement exercises improve cognition in individuals with mild cognitive impairment (Teixeria et al., 2011). The majority of studies reviewed, however, were not randomized trials, but instead were prospective studies.

Despite the number of positive reviews and trials highlighted above, Snowden et al. stated, based on their review of the literature, that there is inadequate evidence at this time to conclude that PA and exercise interventions are effective at improving cognition in older adults (Snowden et al., 2011). It is important to note, however, that the inclusion and exclusion criteria for this review article were very rigorous, which limited many studies from eligibility for review. Furthermore, the authors did not perform a metaanalysis, but instead rated the quality and effectiveness of the studies. One of the main arguments of the authors is that overall the interventions were too short in duration; future studies and interventions should use longer study durations. Also, the authors argued that although many interventions have used valid and reliable measures of cognition, the measurement tools have often varied. They recommended a standard set of measurements to study the effects of PA on cognition.

Cross-Sectional Studies

Results from cross-sectional studies indicate that greater amounts of PA are associated with better brain health and greater levels of executive function. Colcombe and others found that while brain tissue loss does occur with age, higher levels of aerobic fitness are associated with greater levels of brain tissue (i.e., less loss over time)



(Colcombe et al., 2003). In addition, greater levels of PA are also associated with higher amounts of brain tissue and with higher levels of executive function (Benedict et al., 2013). Executive function is a broad term used to define planning and problem solving which occurs predominantly in the prefrontal cortex of the brain (Alvarez & Emory, 2006) and declines substantially with age, and even more with ND. Eggermont and others also found that executive function capability was associated with greater participation in PA in older, community-dwelling adults (Eggermont, Milberg, Lipsitz, Scherder, & Leveille, 2009).

While many of these findings have been observed with self-reported PA, Kimura and colleagues observed that significant differences existed in executive function between older adults who were more physically active, measured by accelerometers, in the three months prior to cognitive testing as compared to those who were less active (Kimura, Yasunaga, & Wang, 2012). Furthermore, there was a trend toward higher levels of moderate-intensity PA being positively associated with better simple reaction time.

Results from another study indicate a similar association between PA and executive function for older individuals (Boucard et al., 2012). Findings from this cross-sectional study indicated that PA status was associative with greater executive function capabilities only for adults over the age of 70, although the size of the sample for this age group was relatively small (n=30). In addition, an investigation led by Bixby, using a much larger sample, found that the relationship between better executive functioning and PA levels was apparent for adults over the age of 65 (Bixby et al., 2007).

While there appears to be an association between increased age and decreased executive function capability, there also appears to be a relationship between physical



functioning and better executive function capability (Hirota et al., 2010). Faster trail making task time, a measure of executive function, was associated with increased walking speed, balance and obstacle negotiation.

Cohort Studies

Data from cohort (prospective) studies suggest that higher levels of PA throughout one's lifetime are associated with better brain health including better executive function. Using the 1914 Glostrup cohort, Gow and colleagues measured PA at age 50 and 60 with a single open-ended question that classified participants according to a 4-point scale (Gow, Mortensen, & Avlund, 2012). Participants were monitored for changes in cognitive ability from age 60 to 80, with cognitive ability scaled to age 50 norms. Greater levels of PA over the 30 years of follow-up were associated with higher levels of cognitive ability. However, this study may have been a conservative estimate, as noted by the authors, since it is likely that those with poor health or cognition were less likely to be followed.

Gow and colleagues measured PA and performed an MRI at age 70 in individuals from the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936, and then compared MRI results at age 73 (Gow, Bastin, et al., 2012). They examined normal white matter as compared to white matter lesions as well as atrophy, which are markers of cognitive decline. Results indicated that higher levels of PA were associated with higher levels of normal white matter, less atrophy and also lower levels of white matter lesions, suggesting PA is neuroprotective.

A recent study by Defina and colleagues measured incidence rates of dementia as compared to aerobic fitness levels (defined as VO₂ Max) (Defina et al., 2013). A total of



19,458 men and women were recruited in this study from the time of their midlife examination, at which time they underwent a single treadmill fitness test between 1971 and 2009. Participants were followed over time for incidence of all-cause dementia between 1999 and 2009. The authors found that higher level of fitness at the midlife examination was associated with a lowered risk of dementia later in life. This finding was constant even when adjusting for cerebral-vascular events. However, this study cannot offer advice on exercise prescription since it only measured aerobic fitness at the time of the midlife health check-up.

There is some evidence that even lower to moderate-intensity PA may be neuroprotective. Several studies point to an association between walking and higher levels of cognitive function. Vercambre et al. (Vercambre, Grodstein, Manson, Stampfer, & Kang, 2011) examined the association between PA and cognitive decline in the Women's Antioxidant Cardiovascular Study. Recreational PA was assessed at baseline and every two years thereafter from 1996 to 2000. Between 1998 and 2000, the participants underwent a cognitive battery by telephone including tests of global cognition, verbal memory and category fluency. Regular walking was strongly related to lower rates of cognitive decline. While it is important to note that women from this study had previously been diagnosed with a vascular condition, other publications have suggested similar findings (Etgen et al., 2009; Lautenschlager et al., 2008; Middleton, Mitnitski, Fallah, Kirkland, & Rockwood, 2008).

Yaffe and colleagues conducted an 8 year prospective study of community dwelling women with walking distance as the primary independent variable (Yaffe, Barnes, Nevitt, Lui, & Covinsky, 2001). Cognitive decline was defined as a 3+ point drop



on the Mini-Mental State Exam at follow-up. After adjusting for age, educational level, co-morbid conditions, smoking status, estrogen use, and functional limitations, women with the highest levels of PA were 0.66 times as likely to experience cognitive decline as compared to the least physically active women. Similarly, Weuve et al. used data from the Nurses' Health Study to examine the relationship between self-reported PA levels and cognitive performance assessed via a telephone interview (Weuve et al., 2004). All participants at the beginning of the trial were 70 years or older. They found that women who participated in more PA, which consisted of predominantly walking, showed significantly better cognitive function over time.

Randomized Controlled Trials

There are a limited number of randomized controlled trials (RCT) that have examined the effects of exercise on cognitive health and executive function in older adults. Most of the RCT performed to increase executive function in older adults have used aerobic exercise as the treatment.

Kramer and colleagues compared a six-month aerobic fitness program to a stretching control program on measures of executive function in 124 previously sedentary older adults (Kramer et al., 1999). In this RCT, cardiorespiratory fitness and cognitive function were tested at baseline and at the completion of the 6-month programs. The aerobic fitness group exercise protocol consisted of walking (volume and duration not reported) whereas the attention control protocol consisted of stretching and toning exercises. The aerobic fitness intervention resulted in a significant increase in cardiovascular fitness as compared to the control group. Participants in the walking



program also showed improvements in the three measures of executive function: task switching, reaction time, and response compatibility. This study suggests that even light to moderate forms of PA (i.e. walking) may have a positive effect on increasing cognitive ability and/or preventing cognitive decline in older adults, particularly in executive functioning.

In a randomized controlled trial, Maki and colleagues examined the effect of a three-month walking intervention (once/wk for 90 min, although participants were given pedometers and encouraged to increase their daily activity) vs. a control group on mental decline in 150 older adults (Maki et al., 2012). Several cognitive tests were performed at baseline and following the intervention. The walking group improved in verbal fluency, social interaction, and motor function as compared to the control group. These findings suggest that increasing walking activity may be related to improved executive function, in sedentary adults over 65 years old. Moreover, improvements were seen in a low-dose program that met only once a week.

Malliot and others also examined the effects of exercise on executive function in community dwelling older adults (Malliot, Perrot, & Hartley, 2012). Participants were randomly assigned to either an exercise video game group or to a no-treatment control group. The exercise group completed two 1 hour gaming sessions per week for 12 weeks. Neuropsychological function and fitness were assessed at baseline and at follow-up. They found that the exercise gaming group improved significantly in all measures of executive function, as well as physical functioning. While this study appears to be the only one available on the cognitive benefits of active video games, it appears to be a possible promising area of research.



Vreugdenhil and colleagues found that walking programs also have positive benefits for those already diagnosed with ND (Vreugdenhil, Cannell, Davies, & Razay, 2012). In a study of 40 community dwelling older adults (51-89 years old) diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease, a 4-month home-based exercise program resulted in increased MMSE scores and better cognitive scores according to the Alzheimer's Disease Assessment Scale – Cognitive Sub-Scale (ADAS-Cog). While the dose and type of exercise prescribed (i.e., resistance training vs. endurance training) was not clearly described, participants in the treatment group were required to include at least 30 min of walking in their exercise regime. Participants were asked to exercise daily, but were not monitored. Nonetheless, results from this trial appear positive since there was greater fitness as well as more favorable cognitive scores at post-intervention testing in the treatment group.

Finally, the benefit of exercise on cognition in older adults also applies to those with other medical issues besides ND, such as diabetes. Baker et al. found that after six months of aerobic exercise training, participants with glucose intolerance not only saw improvements in glucose tolerance, but also improvements on executive function tests (Baker, Frank, et al., 2010b).

Summary and Future Research

The literature on the effects of PA on cognition in individuals who have ND, as well as providing a protective effect for those who are disease free, appears very promising. Interventions to increase aerobic exercise and fitness have been consistently found to improve cognition in older adults, and also protect cognitive function (i.e.,



prevent decline). Research is still needed to study the effects of resistance training on cognition. Comparative studies on different forms of exercise must also be performed, such as differences in cognitive effects between aerobic and resistance exercise training; as it has been suggested that gross-motor cognitive training that occurs during total body resistance training may also have an effect on executive function capability (Pesce, 2012). Different types of exercise, exercise modalities, durations, and intensities should be examined to determine the effectiveness of different PA intervention programs.

Since PA should be one of the highest priorities for treating and preventing disease and disablement in older adults, effective interventions should be implemented and tested (Nelson et al., 2007). Many communities are implementing evidence-based PA programs. Efforts to evaluate these existing programs on a wide range of outcomes, including cognition, are important for reasons such as cost-effectiveness, feasibility, and sustainability. One such PA intervention program, WWE, was originally developed by the Arthritis Foundation for doctor-diagnosed and self-reported arthritis (Rizzo, 1999). This group-based walking program has the primary objectives of increasing PA, encouraging participants in the program to exercise, and educating participants about the benefits of PA. WWE is also designed to be affordable, easy to implement, and easily accessible. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Arthritis Program identified and now promotes WWE as one of six PA programs that have been proven safe and effective in this population (Hootman, Helmick, & Brady, 2012).

While only a few studies have evaluated the effectiveness of WWE, the initial results appear promising. Bruno and colleagues found that as compared to a pain management seminar, WWE participants reported being more confident, less depressed,



less distressed about their health, and in less pain (Bruno, Cummins, Gaudino, Stoos, & Blanpied, 2006). In addition, participants in WWE showed significantly greater levels of PA at 6 weeks. Limitations of this study include that it used a quasi-experimental design, and very high attrition rates were seen at both 6 weeks (54.1%) and 4 months (73.0%).

Two other studies have evaluated WWE. In a quasi-experimental, pre-post study design, Callahan and colleagues found that both a self-directed program of WWE and a group format were equally effective at reducing self-reported arthritis pain and self-efficacy (Callahan et al., 2011). At 6 weeks, both groups had improvements in all self-reported measures as well as all performance measures.

The revised WWE program (a 9 week program meeting 2x/week), described by Schoster et al., decreased disability and improved arthritis symptoms, self-efficacy, perceived control, balance, strength, and walking pace in individuals with arthritis, regardless of the program format was group-based or self-directed (Schoster, Altpeter, Meier, & Callahan, 2012). At 1 year, some benefits were maintained, particularly among those in the self-directed program. WWE is a safe, easy, and inexpensive program to promote community-based PA among adults with arthritis.

WWE appears to be an effective intervention in older adults for increasing PA and may have potential for increasing cognition in community dwelling older adults. The purpose of this study was to examine whether WWE, in addition to improving arthritis symptoms and increasing PA, also improves cognitive function. Aside from testing whether WWE improved cognitive function, the study also examined if intervention attendance was associated with degree of change in cognition, and if changes in PA levels were associated with changes in cognitive performance. Finally, the study also set



out to determine if the following secondary outcomes were improved by the intervention: PA levels, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance measures.



Chapter 3

Methods

Study Design

The study was originally proposed as a 9-week randomized controlled trial consisting of an intervention group and a non-intervention control group to determine if a community based walking intervention could improve cognitive function (specifically, executive function) in healthy older adults at risk for arthritis. However, the program was modified to a single group pretest-posttest design in the third week of the trial; wherein, individuals who had initially been told that they would receive the WWE following the end of the study were allowed to participate in all remaining class sessions (these participants were marked as absent from classes they were excluded from). The study design was modified due to significant non-compliance to the program. Factors contributing to this non-compliance included: 1) the small size of the intervention group made program attendance less enjoyable; 2) participants felt discouraged from attending the WWE because they did not want to walk alone; and 3) contamination (control group participants joining WWE sessions) and non-compliance (intervention group participants refusing to participate in WWE sessions) were consistently occurring with participants assigned to the control group. While the change in study design reduces internal validity of the study, we believed that it would have been impossible to test our hypotheses given poor compliance in the intervention group and substantial contamination in the control

group.



Participants

An *a priori* power calculation was conducted to determine sample size for the study using the G*Power 3.1.7 software (<u>http://www.psycho.uni-duesseldorf.de</u>, April 2013). However, when the study design was changed, the sample size for a pretest-posttest design was recalculated. Because we were unsure of how many seniors would participate in the program, the sample sizes needed for larger effect sizes (and thus smaller samples) were also calculated (see Table 3.1). With our actual enrollment of 48 participants who completed pretest and posttest measures, we were powered to detect an effect size of d = 0.41 (corresponding to a medium effect size).

 Table 3.1 Total Sample Needed to Detect Various Effect Sizes for the Pretest-Posttest design (Paired t-test)

Total Participants	Effect Size (d)
150	0.2302
120	0.2578
100	0.2829
80	0.3171
60	0.3677
40	0.4543

Participants were recruited from Lexington County Recreation and Aging Commission (LCRAC) associated Senior Centers at the following site locations: Lexington, Tri-City, Swansea, Gilbert, Pelion, and Batesburg-Leesville. Participating senior center directors actively recruited participants, and the researcher recruited through face-to-face contacts with older adults at participating centers.

Recruitment was targeted towards individuals who did not currently participate in senior center exercise activities. Records of older adults who participate in exercise classes at each senior center are kept by center directors and were used to exclude those



individuals from participation in this program. Initially, each site was expected to have between 20-30 participants recruited who would then be randomized to either the intervention group or a delayed intervention control group in equal numbers. Larger sites (Tri-city, Lexington and Gilbert) were to have 30 participants recruited per site, while smaller sites (Pelion, Batesburg-Leesville, Swansea) would have 20 participants recruited at each site. However, due to lower than anticipated numbers of recruitment (N=56) and the other challenges described earlier, the study design was changed to a single group pre/post design. This change immediately increased participation in the study and allowed the trial to continue.

Sampling Procedure

After signing an informed consent form approved by the University of South Carolina Institutional Review Board, participants were screened to ensure they met criteria for participation in the study. In order to be eligible for this study, participants had to meet the following criteria: 60+ years of age, were currently not participating in an exercise program, were able to walk, lived independently, had a Mini-Mental-State Exam (MMSE) score of at least 25, and had not been diagnosed with a neurocognitive disease. MMSE scores lower than 25 are a sign of cognitive impairment (Crum, Anthony, Bassett, & Folstein, 1993).

Participants were excluded if they were a member of any group exercise class offered through the senior center, participated in regular exercise within the past month, or had previously had a stroke. The 2011 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey was used for screening exercise behavior (Thompson, Nelson, Caldwell, & Harris, 1998). Participants were excluded from the study if they had regularly (>2x/week) participated



in exercise of 30+ minutes. Finally, for safety reasons, participants were excluded if they endorsed any item on the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q) (Cardinal & Cardinal, 2000; Cardinal, Esters, & Cardinal, 1996) ; however, participants who reported being on blood pressure medication (a question on the PAR-Q), and had a stable blood pressure (<140/90 mmHg), were still allowed to participate in this study.

Participants were initially randomized after signing a consent form and completing all baseline measures. However, as previously mentioned, in the third week of the trial all participants in the study were invited to participate in the intervention.

Intervention

The WWE walking program was run according to the guidelines set forth by the Arthritis Foundation. In order to effectively measure all sites, three senior centers (*Group A*) underwent baseline testing the week before the other three senior centers underwent baseline testing (*Group B*). *Group A* (Lexington, Pelion, and Gilbert) began the WWE program during the week that *Group B* was undergoing baseline testing. *Group B* (Swansea, Tri-City, and Batesburg-Leesville) then began the WWE program the week following completion of baseline testing.

All classes were led by a trained and certified instructor of the Arthritis Foundation. Each class lasted 50-95 minutes. Class structure followed the procedure outlined in Table 3.2. Since walking times and intensities are self-selected by participants, who may rest at any time during the walking period, the class duration varied. According to the Arthritis Foundation, the time initially spent walking was brief, but gradually built up to 30 minutes of PA. However, because each site had a different



instructor and participant characteristics varied by location, time spent walking varied

from location to location and also from session to session.

Activity	Time
Pre-class socializing & Attendance	10 minutes
Welcome & Announcements	2-5 minutes
Health Education – Lecturettes	5-10 minutes
Walking Warm-Up	3-5 minutes
Warm-Up Stretches	4-5 minutes
Walking Activity	5-30 minutes
Walking Cool-down	3-5 minutes
Cool-down Stretches	7-9 minutes
Closing	5 minutes
After-class socializing	10 minutes
Total Time	Approximately 50-95 minutes

 Table 3.2 WWE Typical Class Schedule

During each class participants also took part in Health Education Lecturettes designed to increase knowledge and elicit behavior change using strategies consistent with the Transtheoretical Model (Prochaska & Velicer, 1997) and Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1997). Knowledge of arthritis, the relationship between arthritis and exercise, how to exercise safely and comfortably, and additional programs and resources were all targeted to help move adults towards the preparation stage of change. In addition, the action stage was targeted by teaching goal setting and problem-solving for PA, addressing how to overcome barriers to exercise, and also creating a personal walking plan.

Participants had access to the WWE program workbook which contained a detailed schedule of chapters to be covered for each week's classes. Copies were made available for purchase at participating senior centers (\$5), but participants could also access free copies found at each of the senior centers. Table 3.3 outlines the chapters covered and recommended program schedule according to the program guidebook.



Class attendance was recorded by the instructor for each participant.

<u>Activity</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>1</u>	<u>Week</u> 2	<u>Week</u> <u>3</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>4</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>5</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>6</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>7</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>8</u>	<u>Week</u> <u>9</u>
Read Chapter 1, 2 & 3	X	X							
Do your Starting Point Self-test (Chapter 1)	Х								
Set-up your Walking Plan (Chapter 2 & 3)		Х							
Walk! Try to Walk at least 3 days a week.	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Do the 5 Step Basic Walking Pattern each time you walk (Chapter 5)			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Follow the FITT principles each time you walk (Chapter 3 & 5)		X	X	X	Х	Х	Х	X	Х
Keep your walking dairy each time you walk (Chapter 3)		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Read Chapter 4,5 & 6		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	
Measure your fitness level periodically, and also after the program ends			Х			Х		Х	Х
Monitor your walking intensity and walking progress (distance, time). (Chapter 3, 4 & 5)			Х			Х		X	Х
Do a midway program assessment of your progress using your walking diary, walking plan and monitoring techniques (Chapter 3, 4, 5, & 6)						Х			
Do your Ending Point Self-test and set up your future walking plan. (Chapter 6)								X	
Maintain your walking plan							Х	Х	Х

Table 3.3 WWE Weekly Program Schedule and Reading List



Measures

Baseline data were collected during the first week of the study at each of the senior centers. The baseline assessment included measures of: demographics, cognitive tests, PA, depressive symptoms, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance. All measures, excluding demographics, were assessed at the following times: baseline and one week after the program ended (Week 10).

Sociodemographics and Health

Participants were surveyed at baseline for sociodemographic information. Participants reported their age, sex, race, ethnicity, height and weight (used to calculate BMI), tobacco use, marital status, living status (e.g., independent, under supervision), health status and education level. Additionally, participants self-reported any current or previous health conditions such as diabetes, hypertension, osteoporosis, arthritis, and cancer. Participants also reported if they used a cane or other ambulatory device.

Cognitive Tests

Executive function tests included *trail-making test*, *Stroop Color-Word*, and *verbal fluency*. These measures have all been shown to be positively influenced by exercise (Emery, Schein, Hauck, & MacIntyre, 1998; Hyodo et al., 2012).

Trail-making test

The trail-making test (TMT) assesses executive function, and has been shown to be highly correlated with other tests of executive function (Sanchez-Cubillo et al., 2009). Normative data, by age and education level, also exist for time to complete this task as



shown in Table 3.4 (Tombaugh, 2004). In addition, both the trail-making test A and trailmaking test B have been shown to be sensitive to change over time (Chen et al., 2001). Trail-making test A consists of 25 numbers and participants are asked to connect the numbers in order (e.g., 1 to 2, 2 to 3, etc.). Trail-making test B consists of both numbers (1-13) and letters (A-L) and participants are asked to connect the numbers to the letters in sequential order (e.g., 1 to A, 2 to B, etc.). Trail-making test B is more complex and requires response-set switches.

Trail-making tests A and B were administered according to the guidelines of Strauss and colleagues (Strauss, Sherman, & Spreen, 2006). Briefly, after each test was explained and a practice attempted, participants were instructed to complete each test as quickly as possible. If an error was made, participants were asked to go back to the "circle" where the error occurred and continue. Time to complete each test was recorded by the test administrator. The difference in task completion time between test B and A (i.e, B-A) was calculated. Greater differences between times indicate poorer executive function. Each test takes anywhere from 5 minutes to 15 minutes to administer.



Age group	Education level	<u>Mean Trails A</u> <u>Time (SD)</u>	<u>Mean Trails B</u> <u>Time (SD)</u>		
65-69					
	0-12 years	39.14 (11.84)	91.32 (28.89)		
	12+ years	33.84 (6.69)	67.12 (9.31)		
70-74					
	0-12 years	42.47 (15.15)	109.95 (35.15)		
	12+ years	40.13 (14.48)	86.27 (24.07)		
75-79					
	0-12 years	50.81 (17.44)	130.61 (45.74)		
	12+ years	41.74 (15.32)	100.68 (44.16)		
80-84					
	0-12 years	58.19 (23.31)	152.74 (65.68)		
	12+ years	55.32 (21.28)	132.15 (42.95)		
85-89					
	0-12 years	57.56 (21.54)	167.69 (78.50)		
	12+ years	63.46 (29.22)	140.54 (75.38)		

Table 3.4 Normative Data for Mean Trail Making Task Times Stratified by Age andEducation Level

Stroop Color-Word Test

The Stroop Color-Word (SCW) test is another measure of executive function. It has shown to have high test-retest reliability, although a practice effect may exist with this test for older adults (ICC=0.47) (Lemay, Bedard, Rouleau, & Tremblay, 2004). SCW was administered as defined by Golden (Golden, 1975). Normative data based on age, sex and education level is also available, as shown in Table 3.5 (Seo et al., 2008). This test includes three conditions:

1) 100 words (Red, Green, Blue) are printed in black ink. Participants are asked to read the words (from top to bottom of each of the five columns) as quickly as possible for 45 seconds.

2) 100 colors (Written as XXXX) are printed in either red, green or blue ink.
 Participants read the color names as quickly as possible for 45 seconds.


3) 100 words (Red, Green, Blue) are printed in either red, green or blue ink.

Participants are asked to name the color of the ink that the word is printed in as quickly as

possible for 45 seconds.

Table 3.5 Normative Data for Stroop	Color-Word Score	s Stratified by Age	<i>z</i> , Sex and Education
	Level		

<u>Age group</u>	<u>Sex</u>	Education Level	<u>Mean Color-Word Score</u> (SD)
60-69	Male		
		Low	30.58 (9.08)
		Average	32.13 (10.02)
		High	35.19 (10.19)
	Female		
		Low	34.87 (10.97)
		Average	34.56 (11.50)
		High	40.31 (11.47)
70-74	Male		
		Low	29.60 (8.64)
		Average	32.70 (9.87)
		High	35.37 (10.51)
	Female		
		Low	33.18 (10.99)
		Average	34.21 (11.96)
		High	38.77 (10.64)
75-79	Male		
		Low	26.31 (7.09)
		Average	29.79 (10.18)
		High	35.89 (10.79)
	Female		
		Low	32.86 (10.71)
		Average	33.14 (11.60)
		High	37.90 (9.60)
80-90	Male		
		Low	25.50 (8.05)
		Average	29.91 (10.52)
		High	35.57 (12.07)
	Female		20.07 (10.40)
		Low	30.97 (10.40)
		Average	32.18 (10.78)
		High	38.82 (10.21)

One practice line was completed at the beginning of each condition, and the same Stroop version was administered at each testing session. Each participant was asked to



read aloud what was required for each condition as quickly as possible. If an error was made, than the participant was asked to go back and correct their mistake before continuing. The number of stimuli completed was recorded. Interference scores (Condition 2- Condition 3 [Color-CW]) were recorded and used as the measure of executive function, as per the Golden protocol. Greater interference scores indicated poorer executive function. Participants who reported color blindness or could not read the print were excluded from statistical analysis of SCW. The test takes 5-10 minutes to administer.

Verbal Fluency

Verbal fluency, another measure of executive function, can be measured accurately by short semantic and phonetic tests (Harrison, Buxton, Husain, & Wise, 2000). Verbal fluency has also been shown to be sensitive to change, especially with exercise in older adults (Baker, Frank, et al., 2010a). Both semantic and phonetic fluency have established normative data based on age and education as shown in Table 3.6 (Tombaugh, Kozak, & Rees, 1999).

<u>Age group</u>	Education Level	<u>Phonetic Fluency</u> <u>Score (SD)</u>	Semantic Fluency Score (SD)
60-79			
	Low	25.3 (11.1)	14.4 (3.4)
	Average	35.6 (12.5)	16.4 (4.3)
	High	42.0 (12.1)	18.2 (4.2)
80-95			
	Low	22.4 (8.2)	13.1 (3.8)
	Average	29.8 (11.4)	13.9 (3.4)
	High	37.0 (11.2)	16.3 (4.3)

Table 3.6 Normative Data for Verbal Fluency Scores Stratified by Age and EducationLevel



Phonetic fluency (PF) was tested by asking each participant to name as many words as possible for one minute starting with the letter "T". Participants without cognitive impairment should be able to generate between 10-15 words, according to age predicted norms. The letter used was not changed from pretest to posttest. Semantic fluency (SF) was tested by having the participant generate as many examples of the category "animals" within 1.5 minutes. The category used was not changed from pretest to posttest. Both tests take no more than 5 minutes to administer.

Physical Activity

PA was measured using the Community Health Activities Model Program for Seniors (CHAMPS) questionnaire. The measure provides valid and reliable estimates of PA in older adults and has also been shown to be sensitive to change in PA intervention studies (Giles & Marshall, 2009; Harada, Chiu, King, & Stewart, 2001; Hekler et al., 2012; Stewart, Mills, et al., 2001).

The questionnaire usually takes 10-15 minutes to complete. Participants reported whether they engaged in each of 40 activities (yes or no) "in a typical week in the past four weeks," and if yes, the number of times per week and the duration each week, ranging from "less than 1 hour" to "more than 9 hours." Activities range from daily household chores, to recreational sports and leisure activities. MET hours per week for total activity as well as moderate- to vigorous-intensity PA (MVPA) MET hours per week were calculated (Stewart, Mills, et al., 2001). Previous research indicates that increases in MVPA have had positive effects on executive function capability in both



chronic and acute conditions (Kashihara, Maruyama, Murota, & Nakahara, 2009; Taylor et al., 2004).

Depressive Symptoms

Depressive symptoms were measured with the short version of the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) (Yesavage et al., 1983). The GDS-15 has been shown to be a valid and reliable self-administered measure (α =0.81) (Almeida & Almeida, 1999).

The GDS-15 is composed of 15 questions that require a yes or no to each. The survey takes no more than 5 minutes to complete. Scores can range from 0-15 with higher scores indicating greater depressive symptoms.

Disease Management Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy is a central construct in both the Transtheoretical model (Prochaska & Velicer, 1997) and Social Cognitive Theory (Bandura, 1997), the two theories that guided WWE. The 11-item Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale is a validated questionnaire (α = 0.85) that measures the participant's confidence to control or manage arthritis symptoms (i.e., pain or fatigue) (Barlow, Williams, & Wright, 1997; Gonzalez, Stewart, Ritter, & Lorig, 1995; Mueller, Hartmann, Mueller, & Eich, 2003). Barlow and colleagues (Barlow, Turner, & Wright, 2000) also found that this scale was sensitive to change after implementing an intervention.

The Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale asks participants to rank their certainty that they can manage various symptoms of arthritis on a Likert scale from 1 (very uncertain) to 10 (very certain). Items are summed and scores can range from 11 to 110, with higher scores



indicating greater disease management self-efficacy. The survey takes 5-10 minutes to complete.

Physical Performance

Physical performances measures included *Gait Speed*, *Timed Up-and-Go Test*, and the *Chair Stand Test*. All three of these measures are commonly used for assessing physical capabilities of older adults (Guralnik, Branch, Cummings, & Curb, 1989) and normative data is available for older adults (Bohannon, 2006; Rikli & Jones, 1999).

<u>Gait Speed</u>

Usual gait speed (GS) can be assessed with high reliability and validity (Steffen, Hacker, & Mollinger, 2002). Faster GS is indicative of greater physical function. Slower walking speed has also been shown to be associated with hospitalization, dependence, institutionalization, cognitive impairment and mortality (Abellan Van Kan et al., 2009; Fritz & Lusardi, 2009; Studenski et al., 2011). Improvement in walking speed has also been linked to decreases in mortality risk (Hardy, Perera, Roumani, Chandler, & Studenski, 2007).

Two consecutive trials of GS were conducted as each participant walked on a marked 30 ft walkway at a normal comfortable speed. The fastest trial was used. Times were then converted into speed vectors (feet/s), which can be compared to normative values (Table 3.7). This test takes approximately 5 minutes to complete.



<u>Sex/Age</u>	<u>Mean</u>	<u>SD</u>
Male		
60-69	4.46	0.67
70-79	4.36	0.64
Female		
60-69	4.25	0.69
70-79	4.17	0.69

 Table 3.7 Normative data for usual Gait Speed (feet/sec) by sex and age group

Timed Up-and-Go

The Timed Up-and-Go Test (TUT) has been shown to be a highly reliable and valid measure for assessing basic mobility and balance skills in older adults (Steffen et al., 2002). Faster times (i.e., lower score) are associated with greater physical performance ability and can be compared to normative values (Table 3.8).

Table 3.8 Normative values for Timed Up and Go (sec) by age group

Age	<u>Mean</u>	<u>95% CI</u>
60-69	8.1	7.1-9.0
70-79	9.2	8.2-10.2
80-99	11.3	10.0-12.7

The test measures the time it takes a participant to stand up from a chair, walk a distance of 10 ft, turn, walk back to the chair, and sit down. Two consecutive trials were performed. The fastest trial was used. The test takes 5 minutes to complete.

Chair Stand Test

The Chair Stand Test (CS) has also been shown to be a highly reliable measure (α =0.76) and predictive of disability and morbidity (Guralnik et al., 2000). The test measures lower body strength, has clear cut-off values for what is considered to be a



below average performance (Lusardi, Pellechia, & Schulman, 2003), and is also sensitive to changes over time from an exercise intervention (Weiss, Suzuki, Bean, & Fielding, 2000).

Participants were asked to fold their arms across their chest and stand up once out of a chair. If successful, participants were then asked to sit down and stand up out of the chair as quickly as possible for 30 seconds. If unable to stand out of the chair, a score of 0 was given. The examiner stood by the participant for safety and also to count the number of successful sit-to-stands during the testing period. Higher scores indicate greater lower body strength, which can be compared to normative values (Table 3.9). The test takes approximately 5 minutes to complete.

Table 3.9 Normative data for Chair Stand Test (stands in 30 seconds) by age group and sex

Age	<u>Female Mean</u> <u>(SD)</u>	<u>Male Mean</u> (SD)
60-64	14.5 (4.0)	16.4 (4.3)
65-69	13.5 (3.5)	15.2 (4.5)
70-74	12.9 (3.6)	14.5 (4.2)
75-79	12.5 (3.8)	14.0 (4.3)
80-84	11.3 (4.2)	12.4 (3.9)
85-89	10.3 (4.0)	11.1 (4.6)
90-94	8.0 (5.1)	9.7 (3.8)

Statistical Analysis

Survey results, cognitive tests and physical performance tests were scored according to recommended procedures.



Changes in Cognitive Function

Paired t-tests comparing pretest and posttest scores were performed for each cognitive measure (SCW, TMT, SF, PF). Significant differences between means indicate changes in executive function.

Differences over time in executive function were also assessed using repeated measures ANOVA generated from *SAS 9.3.* A time effect, when controlling for covariates, indicated a change in cognitive function following the intervention. Covariates were age, sex, BMI, race, tobacco use, cane use and a standardized performance test score at pretest (CS + TUT + GS). Differences in executive function test scores have been previously found between men and women, as well as for different age groups (Brennan, Welsh, & Fisher, 1997; Jurado & Rosselli, 2007). High BMI has been associated with executive dysfunction in otherwise healthy adults (Gunstad et al., 2007). Tobacco use has also been correlated with harmful cognitive effects (Swan & Lessov-Schlaggar, 2007). Finally, better cognitive performance has been positively associated with better physical function (Carlson et al., 1999). Four models were tested- one for each of the cognitive tests (SCW, TMT, SF, PF).

Changes in Physical Performance

Paired t-tests comparing pretest and posttest scores were performed for each physical performance measure (CS, TUT, GS) with significant differences between means indicating changes in physical performance.

Differences over time in physical performance were also assessed using repeated measures ANOVA. When controlling for appropriate covariates, a time effect indicated a change in physical performance following the intervention. Age, sex, BMI, race and use



of a cane at pretest were covariates used for the three physical performance measures; differences in performance have been associated with age, BMI and cane use (Studenski et al., 2003).

Changes in Disease Management Self-Efficacy

Paired t-tests were also performed for changes in disease management selfefficacy. Significant differences between means indicated a change in disease management self-efficacy.

Differences over time in disease management self-efficacy were then assessed using repeated measures ANOVA. A time effect indicated a change in disease management self-efficacy following the intervention. Covariates used for disease management self-efficacy were age, depression and physical performance at pretest (standardized score of all three performance tests summated); all of these factors have been found to influence disease management self-efficacy (Turner, Ersek, & Kemp, 2005).

Changes in Physical Activity

Paired t-tests comparing pretest and posttest scores were performed for changes in MET hours per week in PA and MVPA. Significant differences between means indicated a change in total PA or MVPA following the intervention.

Differences over time in PA and MVPA were then assessed using repeated measures ANOVA. A time effect indicated a change in total PA or MVPA following the intervention. Covariates used included: age, sex, BMI, and cane use.



The Relationship between Attendance and Outcomes

Analyses of WWE attendance in relation to the outcomes of cognition, physical performance, disease management self-efficacy, total PA, and MVPA were conducted using repeated measures ANOVA analyses generated from *SAS 9.3*. Separate ANOVA models were conducted for each of the outcomes using the covariates previously described. Each model also contained time, number of sessions attended, and the time x attendance interaction. A significant interaction indicated differential change in the outcome over time according to attendance level.

Predicting Changes in Cognition from Changes in Physical Activity

In order to test whether changes in PA were associated with changes in cognitive function, residualized change scores were created for total PA, MVPA and each cognitive measure. Multiple linear regression analyses were then performed to predict residualized changes in cognitive function from residualized changes in total PA and MVPA. Covariates for analysis of changes in executive function tests included age, sex, and BMI. Significance indicated that improvements in PA were associated with improvements in cognitive function.

Effect size calculations

In addition to conducting the analyses proposed above, the observed effect size (Cohen's d) was also computed for each outcome of interest using the following formula: (mean posttest - mean baseline) / (baseline standard deviation). These calculations helped to determine the clinical meaningfulness of the results in addition to statistical



significance. Conventions of small (d = 0.20), medium (d = 0.50), and large (d = 0.80) were used (Cohen, 1988).

Chapter 4

Results

Participant Characteristics and Baseline Values

Participant characteristics are shown in Table 4.1. Baseline and post-program values for all outcome variables are shown in Table 4.2. Participants (N=56) were predominantly female and overweight. The average participant was over 70 years of age. A majority of participants were either married or widowed and lived independently. Additionally, most of the older adults had not gone to college. Over 80% had some form of arthritis and more than 80% also reported having hypertension. More than half the participants used a cane for daily mobility and support and more than half of the participants also reported being in fair or poor health.

Baseline values for most major outcomes were also lower than normative values. Mean SCW scores and TMT times were lower than normative values for the average age of the sample. Mean PF scores were also lower than normative values for the average age of the sample, however mean SF scores were similar to normative values. All mean baseline values for the physical performance tests (i.e., CS, TUT, GS) were also less than normative values for the average age of the sample.

Follow-up values for most major outcomes were still lower than normative values following the intervention. Mean SCW scores, TMT, and PF were lower than normative values for the average of the sample; however, SF scores were still similar to normative



values. Additionally, all physical performance tests were still less than normative values for the average age of the sample.



Characteristic	Mean (SD) or %
Age (years)	74.22 (8.02)
Sex	
Male	19.6%
Female	80.4%
Race	
White	64.71%
Black	33.33%
Other	1.96%
BMI (kg/m^2)	29.81 (5.92)
Depressive Symptoms (GSD-15 Score)	2.41 (2.42)
Education	
Some College or Higher	19.61%
High School	41.18%
Some High School	25.49%
Grade School	13.73%
Marital Status	
Married	21.57%
Widowed	45.10%
Divorced	15.69%
Separated	3.92%
Never Married	13.73%
Living Status	
Independent	74%
With Children	18%
Community Home	4%
Under Supervision	4%
Self-Rated Health Status	
Excellent	6.25%
Good	22.92%
Fair	39.58%
Poor	31.25%
Presence of Comorbidities	
Diabetes	27.45%
Myocardial Infarction	7.84%
Hypertension	80.39%
Angina	88.24%
Smoker	41.18%
Asthma	21.57%
Osteoporosis	15.69%
Arthritis	80.39%
Hyperlipidemia	56.86%
Cancer	15.69%
Cane Use	50.98%
Physical Problems	41.18%

 Table 4.1 Participant Characteristics (N=56)



Outcome Variable	Mean (SD)	<u>Post-Program</u> Mean (SD)
Cognitive Function		<u>(</u>
CW (words)	25.74 (9.68)	25.39 (9.51)
Color-CW (words)	31.08 (9.92)	30.64 (10.10)
Trails A (sec)	48.25 (20.27)	52.31 (31.77)
Trails B (sec)	163.58 (103.28)	140.35 (94.28)
Trails B- Trails A (sec)	115.30 (91.21)	88.04 (69.89)
Semantic Fluency (words)	19.84 (6.51)	19.54 (7.08)
Phonetic Fluency (words)	10.16 (5.10)	10.58 (4.85)
Physical Performance		
Chair Stand	8.42 (5.04)	9.00 (5.52)
Timed Up and Go (sec)	13.53 (6.87)	13.52 (7.18)
Gait Speed (ft/sec)	3.41 (1.15)	3.98 (1.21)
Disease Management Self-Efficacy	50.37 (19.22)	60.51 (15.46))
Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	24.16 (22.58)	41.56 (30.14)
Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	23.61 (23.73)	18.42 (21.10)

Table 4.2 Baseline and Post-Program Outcome Values

Attendance and Follow-up Values for Outcomes

Mean session attendance was 6.39 ± 4.95 sessions out of 18 possible (35.5% of available sessions), with a range of 0 to 16 sessions (Table 4.3). Of the 56 participants, 9 (16%) attended no sessions, 20 (36%) attended 1-6 sessions, 19 (34%) attended 7-12 sessions, and 8 (14%) attended 13-18 sessions. Attendance decreased over the course of the intervention from 58% at the first session to 33% at the last session. This decrease over time can be seen in Figure 4.1.

Attendance	<u>Sessions</u>	N	Mean Session	SD Session	Dongo
Lever	Attenueu	<u></u>	Attenuance	Attenuance	Kange
None	0 sessions	9	N/A	N/A	N/A
Low	1-6 sessions	20	3.4	1.729	1-6
	7-12				
Medium	sessions	19	9.05	1.58	7-12
	13-18				
High	sessions	8	14.75	0.8864	14-16
	Mean Session Attendance (Sessions) = 6.39 ± 4.95				

Table 4.3 Participant Adherence Rates





Figure 4.1 Percent Session Attendance Over Time

Changes in Cognitive Function

T-tests revealed no significant changes in means following the intervention (Table 4.4). Following the intervention, a small effect size was found for improvement in TMT time (d=0.24). All other effect sizes were found to be extremely small. Repeated measures ANOVA for main effects also revealed no significant changes following the intervention (Table 4.5).

Table 4.4 T-test results with expected mean differences and p-values for Executive FunctionTests

<u>Outcome</u>	<u>Mean Difference (SD)</u> <u>Pre-test vs. Post-test</u>	<u>t-</u> Value	<u>p-value</u>	<u>Cohen's</u> <u>d</u>
Color-CW (words)	1.07 (9.91)	-0.51	0.61	-0.11
Trails B - Trails A (sec)	15.84 (67.28)	-1.08	0.28	-0.24
Phonetic Fluency (words)	.13 (4.94)	0.12	0.79	-0.03
Semantic Fluency (words)	-0.21 (6.82)	-0.15	0.88	0.01



Outcome	B (SD) for time	F-Value for time	p-value for time
Color – CW	-1.62 (1.58)	1.05	0.31
Trails B - Trails A (sec)	-3.23 (13.01)	0.06	0.81
Semantic Fluency (words)	-0.14 (0.77)	0.03	0.88
Phonetic Fluency (words)	-0.71 (0.51)	1.94	0.18

 Table 4.5 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Executive Function Tests

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, BMI, race, tobacco use, cane use, and physical performance at baseline

Changes in Physical Performance

Paired t-tests revealed no significant changes in means following the intervention (Table 4.6). Effect sizes for all physical performance tests were very small. Repeated measures ANOVA for main effects also revealed no significant changes following (Table 4.7).

Table 4.6 T-test Results with Expected Mean Differences and p-values for PhysicalPerformance

<u>Outcome</u>	<u>Mean Difference (SD)</u> <u>Pre-test vs. Post-test</u>	<u>tValue</u>	<u>p-value</u>	<u>Cohen's</u> <u>d</u>
Chair Stand	0.64 (5.38)	0.55	0.59	0.12
Gait Speed (ft/sec)	-0.04 (1.17)	-0.16	0.87	-0.03
Timed Up and Go (sec)	0.02 (7.13)	0.01	0.99	< 0.01

 Table 4.7 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Physical Performance

Outcome	B (SD) for time	F-Value for time	p-value for time
Chair-Stand	0.12 (0.09)	1.52	0.23
Timed Up and Go (sec)	0.02 (0.09)	0.03	0.87
Gait Speed (ft/sec)	-0.05 (0.10)	0.21	0.65

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, race, BMI, and cane use

Changes in Disease Management Self-Efficacy

Paired t-tests revealed a trend in improvement of disease management self-

efficacy following the intervention (p=0.08) as seen in Table 4.8. Additionally, small to

medium effect size was found for disease management self-efficacy (d=0.43). Repeated



measures ANOVA also showed a significant improvement in disease management self-

efficacy over time (B=5.77 points) after controlling for covariates, as shown in Table 4.9.

 Table 4.8 T-test Results with Expected Mean Differences and p-values for Disease

 Management Self-Efficacy

<u>Outcome</u>	<u>Mean Difference (SD)</u> <u>Pre-test vs. Post-test</u>	<u>tValue</u>	<u>p-value</u>	<u>Cohen's</u> <u>d</u>
Disease Management Self-Efficacy	7.29 (15.36)	1.8	0.08	0.43

Table 4.9 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Disease Management Self-
Efficacy

B (SD) for time	F-Value for time	<u>p-value for time</u>
5.77 (2.53)	5.21	0.03
D	5.77 (2.53)	(SD) for time F-value for time 5.77 (2.53) 5.21

Note: Models controlled for age, depression score, and physical performance score

Changes in Physical Activity

Paired t-tests revealed a significant improvement in mean MET hours/week of total PA (p<0.01) following the intervention. No significant changes were observed for MET hours/week of MVPA (Table 4.10). A medium effect size was observed for changes in total PA (d=0.60). Additionally, a small negative effect size was observed for changes in MVPA (d=-0.23). Repeated measures ANOVA showed the same relationships after controlling for covariates. There was a significant improvement in total PA following the intervention (B=17.79 MET hours/week; p<0.01), but not in MVPA (Table 4.11).

Table 4.10 T-test Results w	vith Expected	Mean Differences	and <i>p</i> -values	for Physical Activity
	in Liptere			<i>joi _ iijstemt</i> i _ <i>iii</i> /

<u>Outcome</u>	<u>Mean</u> Difference (SD) <u>Pre-test vs.</u> <u>Post-test</u>	<u>tValue</u>	<u>p-</u> value	<u>Cohen's</u> <u>d</u>
Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	16.48 (27.35)	2.79	< 0.01	0.60
Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	-5.26 (22.74)	1.07	0.37	-0.23



Outcome	<u>B (SD) for</u> <u>time</u>	<u>F-Value for</u> <u>time</u>	<u>p-value for</u> <u>time</u>
Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	17.79 (5.42)	10.78	< 0.01
Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	-5.31 (5.24)	1.03	0.32

Table 4.11 Main Effects of Time for Repeated Measures ANOVA for Physical Activity

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, race, BMI and cane use

The Relationship between Attendance and Changes in Outcomes

No significant time x attendance interactions were seen for any of the measures of cognitive function, indicating that those that attended more sessions did not show greater improvements in cognitive function (Table 4.12). However, the time x attendance interaction was significant for CS (B=0.05 stands, p=0.018), indicating that those who attended more sessions showed greater improvements in CS over time. A trend was also seen for an improvement in gait speed with greater intervention attendance (Table 4.13). However, no significant time x attendance interaction was observed for PA, MVPA or disease management self-efficacy (Table 4.14).

 Table 4.12: Results of Repeated Measures Analyses Examining Time x Attendance Interaction for Tests of Executive Function

<u>Outcome</u>	<u>B (SD) of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> interaction	<u>F-Value of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>	<u>p-value of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>
Color - CW (words)	-0.43 (0.37)	1.37	0.25
Trails B - Trails A (sec)	0.42 (2.83)	0.02	0.88
Semantic Fluency (words)	0.02 (0.17)	0.01	0.93
Phonetic Fluency (words)	0.02 (0.12)	0.02	0.89

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, race, BMI, tobacco use, cane use and total intervention attendance



Table 4.13 Results of Repeated Measures Analyses Examining Time x Attendance Interaction for Physical Performance Tests

Outcome	<u>B (SD) of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>	<u>F-Value of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>	<u>p-value of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> interaction
Chair Stand	0.05 (0.02)	6.31	0.018
Timed Up and Go (sec)	-0.01 (0.018)	0.57	0.46
Gait Speed (ft/sec)	0.03(0.02)	2.64	0.11

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, race, BMI, cane use and total intervention attendance

Table 4.14 Results of Repeated Measures Analyses Examining Time x Attendance Interactionfor Physical Activity and Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity, and Disease Management Self-Efficacy

Outcome	<u>B (SD) of time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>	<u>F-Value of</u> <u>time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>	<u>p-value of</u> <u>time x</u> <u>attendance</u> <u>interaction</u>
Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	-0.01 (1.17)	0.00	0.99
Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity (MET hours/week)	0.06 (1.10)	0.00	0.96
Disease Management Self-Efficacy	0.25 (0.60)	0.17	0.68

Note: Models for PA and MVPA controlled for age, sex, BMI, race, cane use and total intervention attendance: Model for Disease Management Self-Efficacy controlled for age, depression score, physical performance score and total intervention attendance

Associations between Changes in Cognition and Changes in Physical Activity

When controlling for appropriate covariates, increases in total PA levels were associated with significant improvements in SF (p=0.03), but were unrelated to changes in the other three executive function tests (Table 4.15). The association between increases in MVPA and improvements in executive function capability for both TMT and also SF approached statistical significance (Table 4.16), however no significant improvements were seen for either SCW or PF.



Table 4.15 Associations between	Changes in	Cognition and	Changes in	Physical Activity
---------------------------------	------------	---------------	------------	--------------------------

Outcome	F-test of residualized PA	Model R ²	p-value for PA
Stroop Color-Word	0.59	0.07	0.67
Trails B - Trails A (sec)	1.10	0.13	0.38
Semantic Fluency (words)	2.96	0.25	0.03
Phonetic Fluency (words)	0.86	0.09	0.50

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, BMI, race and cane use

Table 4.16 Associations between Changes in Cognition and Changes in Moderate-Vigorous Physical Activity

Outcome	F-test of residualized MVPA	Model R ²	p-value for PA
Stroop Color-Word	0.77	0.09	0.55
Trails B - Trails A (sec)	1.79	0.19	0.16
Semantic Fluency (words)	1.90	0.18	0.13
Phonetic Fluency (words)	0.14	0.02	0.97

Note: Models controlled for age, sex, BMI, race and cane use



Chapter 5

Discussion

Previous research has suggested that engagement in PA may lead to the maintenance and even improvement of the cognitive function of older adults (Teixeria et al., 2011), however few community-based PA interventions have measured changes in cognitive health. The purpose of this study was to determine if the WWE program, a community-based PA intervention, improved the executive function of underactive older adults at senior centers located throughout Lexington County, South Carolina. Additionally, the study examined if greater intervention attendance was associated with improved outcomes and if increases in PA levels were associated with improved cognitive performance. The study also measured if involvement in the intervention improved any of the following: PA levels, disease management self-efficacy, and physical performance.

This community based single group pretest-posttest study had little significant impact on improvements in cognitive function and physical performance. Improvements in executive function were small and not statistically significant and there was no evidence of improvements in executive function with greater program attendance. Similarly, improvements in physical performance were limited to small and not statistically significant effects, but there did appear to be a small but significant interaction between greater attendance and improved physical performance.



One key reason that the findings did not support the hypotheses could have been the short duration of the intervention combined with an inadequate dose of PA. Although the WWE program was effective at increasing self-reported total PA levels of participants, these increases in PA were not significantly associated with the improvements in cognitive performance. Additionally, the WWE program appears to be effective at improving disease management self-efficacy among older adults following the program. However increases in PA and disease management self-efficacy levels were not related to increased attendance, contrary to hypotheses. These findings, that the program can increase total PA levels and also improve disease management self-efficacy and physical performance, are in line with previous research on the WWE (Bruno et al., 2006; Callahan et al., 2011).

In contrast to the generally null findings of this study in regards to cognition, much of the literature on interventions to improve cognitive function through PA in older adults has been positive (Baker et al., 2010; Kramer et al., 1999) . However, Snowden and colleagues in a panel review of older adult interventions for cognitive health found that while there have been some studies that have found positive results, most of the literature is inconsistent (Snowden et al., 2011). Nonetheless, in an early meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials, it was found that PA was associated with significant gains in cognitive ability, particularly executive function (Colcombe & Kramer, 2003). Other reviews have also found a similar positive effect, particularly with aerobic activity (Hillman et al., 2007; Kramer et al., 2003). These positive findings, however, have generally come from 3-6 month interventions and it has been suggested that



improvements in cognition might require an intervention duration of at least 3 months (Kramer & Erickson, 2007).

It therefore seems that a possible reason for the null findings of this study, in regards to changes in cognitive function, might be due to the short duration of the study. Moreover, the self-selected frequency and duration of walking times within WWE might also have led to insufficient levels of PA to have an effect on cognitive function. In support of this idea, MVPA did not significantly increase whereas total PA did significantly increase, suggesting that perhaps the intensity of the PA was inadequate to yield improved cognition. Other variables such as cerebral vascular health have been previously shown to be associated with the executive function capability of older adults (Jacobs et al., 2013), suggesting that executive function could potentially be mediated by numerous other factors besides PA which were outside the scope of this study.

In contrast to the findings on the effects of WWE on physical performance, many studies have also determined that PA is associated with improvements in physical function and quality of life for older adults (King, Rejeski, & Buchner, 1998; Motl & McAuley, 2010). Additionally, PA interventions are moderately successful at improving quality of life and also improving the physical functioning of older adults (Nelson et al., 2007). Nonetheless, certain performance measures might be difficult to improve through PA increases or exercise training for frail older adults. A recent meta-analysis found that interventions to improve physical performance in frail older adults failed to yield significant effects for TUT, but did improve GS (Chou, Hwang, & Wu, 2012). Instead, it appears that the greatest improvements from exercise and PA for frail older adults were seen in measures of activities of daily living. Because the sample used in the present



study was both very old and also frail, the small improvements seen in regards to changes in physical performance appears to be in line with previous literature. Rather, if the present study had measured changes in activities of daily living, more significant effect sizes might have been seen. Additionally, a younger and healthier sample then the current one might have seen greater benefits in physical performance capabilities from increases in PA.

Walking based PA interventions do appear to be conducive to significant increases in PA, like what was seen in this study. Conn and colleagues found that four of six walking-focused PA interventions reviewed increased walking activity in the intervention group, however these interventions were no more effective at increasing total PA than any other intervention strategy (Conn et al., 2003). A meta-analysis by Conn, Valentine, & Cooper revealed only small effect sizes (d= 0.26 ± 0.05) for interventions to increase PA amongst older adults (Conn, Valentine, & Cooper, 2002). Furthermore, theory based interventions (like WWE) had a small effect size, although an insufficient number of studies that were not theory based existed to make comparisons.

Many studies have determined that group-based PA interventions that focus on individual change, such as the WWE program, may be well suited for older adults (Cress et al., 2005; King, 2001). Belza and colleagues found that a community-based groupexercise class significantly improved physical performance measures and also self-rated health status in older adults (Belza, Shumway-Cook, Phelan, Williams, & Snyder, 2006). In a randomized controlled trial by Stewart and colleagues, older adults (65+ years) who underwent a 1 year individual-change based intervention saw significant increase in total energy expenditure following the intervention, as compared to controls (Stewart et al.,



2001). However, this trial had limited group delivery (once a month), and was mostly based on trying to promote individual change. Another community based trial by Barnett and colleagues found that a group based intervention significantly increased physical performance and decreased falls risk in frail older adults (Barnett, Smith, Lord, Williams, & Baumand, 2003). Much like the WWE, these programs allowed for self-selected exercise length, duration, and attendance.

Walking interventions to improve older adult quality of life have also been previously shown to be effective. A recent meta-analysis by Kassavou, Turner, & French found that walking based PA interventions, targeting all age groups, caused a medium-tolarge (d= 0.52 ± 0.19) increase in total PA (Kassavou, Turner, & French, 2013). The walking interventions that only targeted older adults (60+ years) also were found to have medium-to-large effect on total PA (d= 0.57 ± 0.40). Additionally, a study of a neighborhood based walking intervention found that there were significant improvements in walking activity, quality of life, and physical function (Fisher & Li, 2004). Talbot and colleagues also found that a combination of a walking program with an arthritis selfmanagement program caused significant improvements in daily step count, walking efficiency, strength and functional performance as compared to just the self-management program alone (Talbot, Gaines, Huynh, & Metter, 2003). These findings suggest that a walking program can improve multiple can improve the physical function of older adults, and cause greater improvements than just an educational intervention alone. Moreover, the findings of the current study are in line with previous research on the extent to which a walking based intervention can improve PA in older adults. Programs like WWE



deliver both an exercise component and also an educational component which appears to make it ideal for improving physical activity, physical function and also quality of life.

Limitations

This study, however, was not without limitations. First, the study was initially planned as a randomized trial, but had to be altered to a single group pretest-posttest design midway through the trial. While the reasons for this alteration have already been discussed, this change does limit the internal validity of the study. Participants who had been randomized to the control group may have chosen not to participate at all due to their placement or only received a part of the intervention which may have reduced the likelihood of behavior or performance change. Additionally, the single group design limits the ability of the intervention to determine a causality of the changes seen at posttest, which may have been a matter of chance.

A major limitation of our research was that we did not record and account for the duration of the walking activity in our analysis. Program leaders did not keep detailed class logs and it would not have been feasible for them to record time spent walking for each participant given participants self-selected their walking duration.

Another major limitation to this study is the poor adherence to the intervention by the participants. Participants did not attend a majority of the sessions which may have limited their improvements in outcomes. The lack of attendance may have also made it difficult to measure a dose-response relationship to the intervention since most of the participants did not attend more than half the intervention. However, it was not feasible to provide an incentive to participate more frequently in the intervention and the purpose of this intervention was to determine the effects of the WWE program in a real-life setting.



The study also was limited by its measures, particularly the lack of objective measures of PA. While the CHAMPS survey has been previously shown to be a reliable measure of PA, there are still issues with recall of PA that may have hampered the validity of the findings in this study. A review of PA self-report measures for older adults found that there was a weak agreement between self-report measures of PA (r=0.29), suggesting that different self-report measures may lead to different results (Kowalski, Rhodes, Naylor, Tuokko, & MacDonald, 2012). Studies of the validity of CHAMPS have found similar relationships to more objective measures. Hekler and others found a significant but modest agreement between CHAMPS and accelerometer measured PA (r=0.38) in a sample of 870 older adults (Hekler et al., 2012). These findings were similar to those of a previous study of the validity of CHAMPS that found a significant but modest agreement between CHAMPS and accelerometer measured PA (r=0.36). However, due to budget restrictions and lack of staff it would have been extremely difficult to monitor participant PA via objective measurement. Additional measurement limitations may have existed for cognitive function tests, given that they were performed in the field under less than ideal conditions. More profound differences in cognition may have existed had the threat of measurement error for cognitive testing not been omnipresent throughout this study.

Given the small number of participants that were recruited for this study, some of the null findings (i.e., improvements in cognitive function or physical performance) may have been caused by lack of sample size. As previously mentioned, a large body of evidence has suggested that increases in PA are associated with increases in executive



function and physical function. However, the findings of this study were inconclusive for both changes in cognition and also physical performance.

The inconclusive findings of this study may have also been due to the poor performance of this sample on both cognitive and physical performance tests at baseline. Collectively, the sample scored below normative values for all cognitive and physical performance outcomes, and this poor performance at baseline could have made it more difficult for the participants to improve enough to reach statistical significance, although one would also assume that these participants would have more room for improvement given their initial low test scores. However, improvement in outcome scores may have been limited due to the nature of the intervention. The sample was composed of a large number of participants who were not highly educated which may have made it exceedingly difficult for full comprehension of the intervention. A lack of literacy may have made it difficult for participants to actually comprehend the material and change their behavior, thus allowing improvements in outcome measures.

A final limitation was the short duration of the intervention and unknown dose of PA participation. The WWE intervention does not last longer than 9 weeks, however a continuation of the program might have yielded larger effects, given that participants might still be participating in greater amounts of PA. Nonetheless, the dose of PA participation was still unmeasured during this study. The lack of measurement of individual amount of PA participation received in the intervention, however, was deemed to be unavoidable due to budget restraints and a lack of staff to accurately measure PA participation.



Strengths and Future Research

This study is unique, however, because it involves a hard to reach population of older adults from a rural area. Few interventions have been performed on these types of communities to increase PA. The findings that are presented from this study show that the WWE program may be suitable to increase PA in this type of population. Additionally, this study has participants from numerous different racial, ethnic, and educational backgrounds which indicates that the program is effective at improving PA and disease management self-efficacy for many different types of older adults. To date, this is the first known study on the effects of the WWE in a rural population of older adults.

Future research should continue to examine the effects of the WWE on a variety of outcomes, as well as other community based interventions to improve PA in older adults. Future studies should use objective measures of PA such as pedometers and accelerometers. Other variations of the WWE, such as the self-directed version and performing the intervention as a 3 day/week intervention should also be compared to the 2 day/week protocol used in this study. Future research should also determine if differences in performance and behavior exist following either protocol. Additionally, large sample sizes should be used for community based interventions to allow for greater statistical power and more conclusive findings, particularly when measuring changes in cognition and physical performance which can be expected to yield small effect sizes. More accurate and precise methods of test administration should be utilized in future study designs rather than using field based testing, which is open to greater amounts of



measurement error. Finally, a longer program duration would allow for more adequate study of the effects of the program on cognitive performance.

Conclusion

The results of this community-based single group pretest-posttest study indicate that there does not appear to be enough evidence to indicate that the WWE is capable of improving the cognitive function or physical performance of older adults. The WWE program does appear to improve PA levels of older adults as well as increase their quality of life, but these improvements do not mediate improvements in cognition. However the improvements in PA and quality of life do not appear to be related to the attendance to the intervention, which indicates the lack of a dose-response relationship between the intervention and improvements in PA or disease management self-efficacy. Future researchers should measure changes in PA objectively, as well as utilize greater sample sizes.



References

Abellan Van Kan, G., Bonnefoy, M., Cesari, M., Rolland, Y., Donini, L. M.,

Nourhashem, F., . . . Vellas, B. (2009). Gait Speed at Usual Pace as a Predictor of
Adverse Outcomes in Community-Dwelling Older People: An International
Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 13*(10), 881-889.

- Aging, N. I. o. (2003). *Alzheimer's Disease: Unraveling the Mystery*: Government Printing Office.
- Ahlskog, J. E., Geda, Y.E., Graff-Radford N.R., Petersen, R.C. (2011). Physical Exercise as a Preventitive or Disease-Modifying Treatment of Dementia and Brain Aging. *Mayo Clinic Preceedings*, 86(9), 876-884.
- Almeida, O. P., & Almeida, S. A. (1999). Short versions of the geriatric depression scale:
 a study of their validity for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according
 to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 14(10),
 858-865.
- Alvarez, J. A., & Emory, E. (2006). Executive function and the frontal lobes: a metaanalytic review. *Neuropsychology Review*, *16*(1), 17-42. doi: 10.1007/s11065-006-9002-x



Angevaren, M., Aufdemkapme, G., Verhaar, H. J., Aleman, A., & Vanhees, L. (2008).
Physical activity and enhanced fitness to improve cognitive function in older people without known cognitive impairment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *3*(3), Cd005381.

Baker, L. D., Frank, L. L., Foster-Schubert, K., Green, P. S., Wilkinson, C. W.,
McTiernan, A., . . . Craft, S. (2010a). Aerobic exercise improves cognition for older adults with glucose intolerance, a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 22*(2), 569-579. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100768

- Baker, L. D., Frank, L. L., Foster-Schubert, K., Green, P. S., Wilkinson, C. W.,
 McTiernan, A., . . . Craft, S. (2010b). Aerobic exercise improves cognition for older adults with glucose intolerance, a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD, 22*(2), 569-579. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100768
- Baker, L. D., Frank, L. L., Foster-Schubert, K., Green, P. S., Wilkinson, C. W.,
 McTiernan, A., . . . Craft, S. (2010). Effects of aerobic exercise on mild cognitive impairment: a controlled trial. *Archives of Neurology*, 67(1), 71-79. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2009.307
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychology Review, 84, 191-215.
- Barlow, J. H., Turner, A. P., & Wright, C. C. (2000). A randomized controlled study of the Arthritis Self-Management Programme in the UK. *Health Education Research*, 15(6), 665-680.



- Barlow, J. H., Williams, B., & Wright, C. C. (1997). The reliability and validity of the arthritis self-efficacy scale in a UK context. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 2(1), 3-17.
- Barnett, A., Smith, B., Lord, S. R., Williams, M., & Baumand, A. (2003). Communitybased group exercise improves balance and reduces falls in at-risk older people: a randomised controlled trial. *Age and Ageing*, *32*(4), 407-414.
- Belza, B., Shumway-Cook, A., Phelan, E. A., Williams, B., & Snyder, S. J. L., J. P.
 (2006). The Effects of a Community-Based Exercise Program on Function and Health in Older Adults: The EnhanceFitness Program. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 25, 291-306.
- Benedict, C., Brooks, S. J., Kullberg, J., Nordenskjold, R., Burgos, J., Le Greves, M., ...
 Schioth, H. B. (2013). Association between physical activity and brain health in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *34*(1), 83-90. doi: DOI 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.04.013
- Bixby, W. R., Spalding, T. W., Haufler, A. J., Deeny, S. P., Mahlow, P. T., Zimmerman, J. B., & Hatfield, B. D. (2007). The unique relation of physical activity to executive function in older men and women. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 39(8), 1408-1416. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31806ad708
- Bohannon, R. W. (2006). Reference values for the timed up and go test: a descriptive meta-analysis. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy*, 29(2), 64-68.
- Boucard, G. K., Albinet, C. T., Bugaiska, A., Bouquet, C. A. g., Clarys, D., & Audiffren,M. (2012). Impact of Physical Activity on Executive Function in Aging: A



Selective Effect on Inhibition Among Old Adults. *Journal of Sport and Exericse Psychology*, *34*, 808-827.

- Brennan, M., Welsh, M. C., & Fisher, C. B. (1997). Aging and executive function skills: an examination of a community-dwelling older adult population. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 84(3 Pt 2), 1187-1197.
- Bruno, M., Cummins, S., Gaudino, L., Stoos, J., & Blanpied, P. (2006). Effectiveness of two Arthritis Foundation programs: Walk With Ease, and YOU Can Break the Pain Cycle. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 1(3), 295-306.
- Callahan, L. F., Shreffler, J. H., Altpeter, M., Schoster, B., Hootman, J., Houenou, L. O.,
 ... Schwartz, T. A. (2011). Evaluation of group and self-directed formats of the
 Arthritis Foundation's Walk With Ease Program. *Arthritis Care & Research*,
 63(8), 1098-1107. doi: 10.1002/acr.20490
- Cardinal, B. J., & Cardinal, M. K. (2000). Preparticipation physical activity screening within a racially diverse, older adult sample: comparison of the original and revised Physical Activity Readiness questionnaires. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 71(3), 302-307.
- Cardinal, B. J., Esters, J., & Cardinal, M. K. (1996). Evaluation of the revised physical activity readiness questionnaire in older adults. *Medicine and Science in Sports* and Exercise, 28(4), 468-472.

Carlson, M. C., Fried, L. P., Xue, Q. L., Bandeen-Roche, K., Zeger, S. L., & Brandt, J. (1999). Association between executive attention and physical functional performance in community-dwelling older women. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 54(5), S262-S270.



Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2009) *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey*. Atlanta, GA: CDC.

http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/annual_2009.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2011) *The CDC Healthy Brain Initiaitve: Progress 2006-2011*. Atlanta, GA: CDC.

http://www.cdc.gov/aging/pdf/hbibook_508.pdf

- Chen, P., Ratcliff, G., Belle, S. H., Cauley, J. A., DeKosky, S. T., & Ganguli, M. (2001). Patterns of cognitive decline in presymptomatic Alzheimer disease: a prospective community study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 58(9), 853-858.
- Chou, C. H., Hwang, C. L., & Wu, Y. T. (2012). Effect of exercise on physical function, daily living activities, and quality of life in the frail older adults: a meta-analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 93(2), 237-244. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2011.08.042
- Cohen, J. E. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Cohen, J. E. (2003). Human population: the next half century. *Science*, *302*(5648), 1172-1175. doi: 10.1126/science.1088665
- Colcombe, S., & Kramer, A. F. (2003). Fitness effects on the cognitive function of older adults: a meta-analytic study. *Psychological Science*, *14*(2), 125-130.

Colcombe, S. J., Erickson, K. I., Raz, N., Webb, A. G., Cohen, N. J., McAuley, E., & Kramer, A. F. (2003). Aerobic fitness reduces brain tissue loss in aging humans. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 58(2), 176-180.


- Conn, V. S., Minor, M. A., Burks, K. J., Rantz, M. J., & Pomeroy, S. H. (2003). Integrative review of physical activity intervention research with aging adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51(8), 1159-1168.
- Conn, V. S., Valentine, J. C., & Cooper, H. M. (2002). Interventions to increase physical activity among aging adults: a meta-analysis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 24(3), 190-200.
- Cress, M. E., Buchner, D. M., Prohaska, T., Rimmer, J., Brown, M., Macera, C., ... Chodzko-Zajko, W. (2005). Best practices for physical activity programs and behavior counseling in older adult populations. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 13(1), 61-74.
- Crum, R. M., Anthony, J. C., Bassett, S. S., & Folstein, M. F. (1993). Population-based norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by age and educational level. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 269(18), 2386-2391.
- Defina, L. F., Willis, B. L., N.B., R., Gao, A., Leonard, D., Haskell, W. L., . . . Berry, J. D. (2013). The association between midlife cardiorespiratory fitness levels and later-life dementia. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *4*, 2839-2900.
- Eggermont, L. H., Milberg, W. P., Lipsitz, L. A., Scherder, E. J., & Leveille, S. G.
 (2009). Physical activity and executive function in aging: the MOBILIZE Boston
 Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *57*(10), 1750-1756. doi:
 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02441.x
- Emery, C. F., Schein, R. L., Hauck, E. R., & MacIntyre, N. R. (1998). Psychological and Cognitive Outcomes of a Randomized Trial of Exercise Among Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Health Psychology*, 17(3), 232-240.



- Erickson, K. I., Weinstein, A. M., & Lopez, O. L. (2012). Physical activity, brain plasticity, and Alzheimer's disease. *Archives of Medical Research*, 43(8), 615-621. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2012.09.008
- Etgen, T., Sander, D., Huntgeburth, U., Poppert, H., Forstl, H., & Bickel, H. (2009).
 Physical activity and incident cognitive impairment in elderly persons. *Archives* of Internal Medicine, 170(2), 186-193.
- Etnier, J. L., Nowell, P. M., Landers, D. M., & Sibley, B. A. (2006). A meta-regression to examine the relationship between aerobic fitness and cognitive performance. *Brain Research Reviews*, 52(1), 119-130. doi: DOI 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2006.01.002
- Fisher, K. J., & Li, F. (2004). A community-based walking trial to improve neighborhood quality of life in older adults: a multilevel analysis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 28(3), 186-194. doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm2803_7
- Fritz, S., & Lusardi, M. (2009). White Paper: "Walking Speed: the Sixth Vital Sign". Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy, 32(2), 2-5.
- Giles, K., & Marshall, A. L. (2009). Repeatability and Accuracy of CHAMPS as a Measure of Physical Activity in a Community Sample of Older Australian Adults. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 6, 221-229.
- Golden, C. J. (1975). A Group Form of the Stroop Color and Word Test. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 39*, 1067-1070.
- Gonzalez, V. M., Stewart, A., Ritter, P. L., & Lorig, K. (1995). Translation and validation of arthritis outcome measures into Spanish. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 38(10), 1429-1446.



- Gow, A. J., Bastin, M. E., Munoz Maniega, S., Valdes Hernandez, M. C., Morris, Z.,
 Murray, C., . . . Wardlaw, J. M. (2012). Neuroprotective lifestyles and the aging
 brain: activity, atrophy, and white matter integrity. *Neurology*, 79(17), 1802-1808.
 doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182703fd2
- Gow, A. J., Mortensen, E. L., & Avlund, K. (2012). Activity participation and cognitive aging from age 50 to 80 in the glostrup 1914 cohort. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 60(10), 1831-1838. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04168.x
- Gunstad, J., Paul, R. H., Cohen, R. A., Tate, D. F., Spitznagel, M. B., & Gordon, E.(2007). Elevated body mass index is associated with executive dysfunction in otherwise health adults. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 48, 57-61.
- Guralnik, J. M., Branch, L. G., Cummings, S. R., & Curb, J. D. (1989). Physical performance measures in aging research. *Journal of Gerontology*, 44(5), M141-146.
- Guralnik, J. M., Ferrucci, L., Pieper, C. F., Leveille, S. G., Markides, K. S., Ostir, G. V., .
 . Wallace, R. B. (2000). Lower extremity function and subsequent disability:
 consistency across studies, predictive models, and value of gait speed alone
 compared with the short physical performance battery. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 55*(4), M221-231.
- Hall, C. D., Smith, A. L., & Keele, S. W. (2001). The impact of aerobic activity on cognitive function in older adults: A new synthesis based on the concept of executive control. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 13(1-2), 279-300.



- Hamer, M., & Chida, Y. (2009). Physical activity and risk of neurodegenerative disease:
 a systematic review of prospective evidence. *Psychological Medicine*, *39*(1), 3-11. doi: 10.1017/S0033291708003681
- Harada, N. D., Chiu, V., King, A. C., & Stewart, A. L. (2001). An evaluation of three self-report physical activity instruments for older adults. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(6), 962-970.
- Hardy, S. E., Perera, S., Roumani, Y. F., Chandler, J. M., & Studenski, S. A. (2007).
 Improvement in usual gait speed predicts better survival in older adults. *Journal* of the American Geriatrics Society, 55(11), 1727-1734. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01413.x
- Harrison, J. E., Buxton, P., Husain, M., & Wise, R. (2000). Short test of semantic and phonological fluency: normal performance, validity and test-retest reliability. *The British Journal of Clinical Psychology / The British Psychological Society, 39 (Pt 2)*, 181-191.
- Hekler, E. B., Buman, M. P., Haskell, W. L., Conway, T. L., Cain, K. L., Sallis, J. F., ...
 King, A. C. (2012). Reliability and validity of CHAMPS self-reported sedentaryto-vigorous intensity physical activity in older adults. *Journal of Physical Activity* & *Health*, 9(2), 225-236.
- Herbert, L. E., Scherr, P. A., Bienias, J. L., Bennett, D. A., & Evans, D. A. (2003).Alheimer's Disease in the US Population: Prevalence Estimates Using the 2000 Census. Archives of Neurology, 60, 1119-1122.



- Heyn, P., Abreu, B. C., & Ottenbacher, K. J. (2004). The effects of exercise training on elderly persons with cognitive impairment and dementia: a meta-analysis.
 Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 85(10), 1694-1704.
- Hillman, C. H., Erickson, K. I., & Kramer, A. F. (2007). Be smart, exercise your heart: exercise effects on brain and cognition. *Nature*, 9, 58-65.
- Hirota, C., Watanabe, M., Sun, W., Tanimoto, Y., Kono, R., Takashi, K., & Kono, K.
 (2010). Association Between Trail Making Test and Physical Performance in Elderly Japanese. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 10, 40-47.
- Hootman, J. M., Helmick, C. G., & Brady, T. J. (2012). A public health approach to addressing arthritis in older adults: the most common cause of disability.
 American Journal of Public Health, 102, 426-433.
- Hyodo, K., Dan, I., Suwabe, K., Kyutoku, Y., Yamada, Y., Akahori, M., . . . Soya, H.
 (2012). Acute moderate exercise enhances compensatory brain activation in older adults. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *33*(11), 2621-2632. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.12.022
- Jacobs, H. I. L., Leritz, E. C., Williams, V. J., Van Boxtel, M. P. J., van der Elst, W.,
 Jolles, J., . . . Salat, D. H. (2013). Association Between White Matter
 Microstructure, Executive Functions and Processing Speed in Older Adults: The
 Impact of Vascular Health. *Human Brain Mapping*, 34(1).
- Jurado, M. B., & Rosselli, M. (2007). The Elusive Nature of Executive Functions: A Review of our Current Understanding. *Neuropsychology Review*, 17, 213-233.



- Kashihara, K., Maruyama, T., Murota, M., & Nakahara, Y. (2009). Positive effects of acute and moderate physical exercise on cognitive function. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 28(4), 155-164.
- Kassavou, A., Turner, A., & French, D. P. (2013). Do interventions to promote walking in groups increase physical activity? A meta-analysis. *The International Journal* of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 10, 18.
- Kimura, K., Yasunaga, A., & Wang, L. (2012). Correlation between moderate daily physical activity and neurocognitive variability in healthy elderly people.
 Archives of Gerentology and Geriatrics, 56, 109-117.
- King, A. C. (2001). Interventions to promote physical activity by older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 56 Spec No 2*(suppl 2), 36-46.
- King, A. C., Rejeski, W. J., & Buchner, D. M. (1998). Physical activity interventions targeting older adults. A critical review and recommendations. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 15(4), 316-333.
- Kowalski, K., Rhodes, R., Naylor, P. J., Tuokko, H., & MacDonald, S. (2012). Direct and indirect measurement of physical activity in older adults: a systematic review of the literature. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *9*(148), 148. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-148

Kramer, A. F., Colcombe, S. J., McAuley, E., Eriksen, K. I., Scalf, P., Jerome, G. J., . . .
Webb, A. G. (2003). Enhancing brain and cognitive function of older adults through fitness training. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience : MN*, 20(3), 213-221. doi: 10.1385/JMN:20:3:213



69

- Kramer, A. F., Colcombe, S. J., McAuley, E., Scalf, P. E., & Erickson, K. I. (2005).
 Fitness, aging and neurocognitive function. *Neurobiology of Aging, 26 Suppl 1*, 124-127. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.09.009
- Kramer, A. F., & Erickson, K. I. (2007). Capitalizing on cortical plasticity: influence of physical activity on cognition and brain function. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *11*(8), 342-348. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2007.06.009
- Kramer, A. F., Hahn, S., Cohen, N. J., Banich, M. T., McAuley, E., Harrison, C. R., ... Colcombe, A. (1999). Ageing, fitness and neurocognitive function. *Nature*, 400(6743), 418-419. doi: 10.1038/22682
- Launer, L. J. (2011). Counting dementia: There is no one "best" way. Alzheimer's & Dementia : The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association, 7(1), 10-14. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2010.11.003
- Lautenschlager, N. T., Cox, K. L., Flicker, L., Foster, J. K., van Bockxmeer, F. M., Xiao, J., . . . Almeida, O. P. (2008). Effect of physical activity on cognitive function in older adults at risk for Alzheimer disease. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 300(9), 1027-1037.
- Leckie, R. L., Weinstein, A. M., Hodzic, J. C., & Erickson, K. I. (2012). Potential moderators of physical activity on brain health. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2012, 948981. doi: 10.1155/2012/948981
- Lemay, S., Bedard, M. A., Rouleau, I., & Tremblay, P. L. (2004). Practice effect and testretest reliability of attentional and executive tests in middle-aged to elderly subjects. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 18(2), 284-302. doi: 10.1080/13854040490501718



- Lusardi, M. M., Pellechia, G. L., & Schulman, M. (2003). Functional Performance in Community Living Older Adults. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy*, 26(3), 14-22.
- Maki, Y., Ura, C., Yamaguchi, T., Murai, T., Isahai, M., Kaiho, A., . . . Yamaguchi, H. (2012). Effects of intervention using a community-based walking program for prevention of mental decline: A randmoized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 60, 505-510.
- Malliot, P., Perrot, A., & Hartley, A. (2012). Effects of Interactive Physical-ActivityVideo Game Training on Physical and Cognitive Function in Older Adults.*Psychology and Aging*, 27(3), 589-600.
- Middleton, L. E., Mitnitski, A., Fallah, N., Kirkland, S. A., & Rockwood, K. (2008). Changes in cognition and mortality in relation to exercise in later life: a population based study. *PLoS One*, *3*(9), e3124.
- Motl, R. W., & McAuley, E. (2010). Physical activity, disability, and quality of life in older adults. *Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, 21(2), 299-308. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2009.12.006
- Mueller, A., Hartmann, M., Mueller, K., & Eich, W. (2003). Validation of the arthritis self-efficacy short-form scale in German fibromyalgia patients. *European Journal* of Pain (London, England), 7(2), 163-171. doi: 10.1016/S1090-3801(02)00097-6
- Nelson, M. E., Rejeski, W. J., Blair, S. N., Duncan, P. W., Judge, J. O., King, A. C., . . .Castaneda-Sceppa, C. (2007). Physical Activity and Public Health in OlderAdults: Recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the



American Heart Association. *Medicine & Science in Sport & Exercise*, 49(8), 1435-1445.

- Olson, S. J. (2013). Public Health for an Aging Society. *Health Promotion Practice*, *14*(1), 7-9.
- Perry, R. J., & Hodges, J. R. (1999). Attention and executive deficits in Alzheimer's disease. A critical review. *Brain*, 122 (Pt 3)(3), 383-404.
- Pesce, C. (2012). Shifting the Focus From Quantitative to Qualitative Exercise Characteristics in Exercise and Cognition Research. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 34, 766-786.
- Prochaska, J. O., & Velicer, W. F. (1997). The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. *American Journal of Health Promotion : AJHP, 12*(1), 38-48.
- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1999). Functional fitness normative scores for communityresiding older adults, ages 60-94. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 7, 162-181.
- Rizzo, T. H. (1999). Walk with ease: the Arthritis Foundation walking program leader's guide. Atlanta, GA: Arthritis Foundation.
- Sanchez-Cubillo, I., Perianez, J. A., Adrover-Roig, D., Rodriguez-Sanchez, J. M., Rios-Lago, M., Tirapu, J., & Barcelo, F. (2009). Construct validity of the Trail Making Test: role of task-switching, working memory, inhibition/interference control, and visuomotor abilities. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS*, 15(3), 438-450. doi: 10.1017/S1355617709090626
- Schoster, B., Altpeter, M., Meier, A., & Callahan, L. F. (2012). Methodological tips for overcoming formative evaluation challenges: the case of the Arthritis Foundation



Walk With Ease program. *Health Promotion Practice*, *13*(2), 198-203. doi: 10.1177/1524839910384060

Schutzer, K. A., & Graves, B. S. (2004). Barriers and motivations to exercise in older adults. *Preventive Medicine*, 39(5), 1056-1061. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.04.003

Seo, E. H., Lee, D. Y., Choo, I. H., Kim, S. G., Kim, K. W., Youn, J. C., . . . Woo, J. I. (2008). Normative study of the Stroop Color and Word Test in an educationally diverse elderly population. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23(10), 1020-1027. doi: 10.1002/gps.2027

Snowden, M., Steinman, L., Mochan, K., Grodstein, F., Prohaska, T. R., Thurman, D. J., . . Anderson, L. A. (2011). Effect of exercise on cognitive performance in community-dwelling older adults: review of intervention trials and recommendations for public health practice and research. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(4), 704-716. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03323.x

Steffen, T. M., Hacker, T. A., & Mollinger, L. (2002). Age- and gender-related test performance in community-dwelling elderly people: Six-Minute Walk Test, Berg Balance Scale, Timed Up & Go Test, and gait speeds. *Physical Therapy*, 82(2), 128-137.

Stewart, A. L., Mills, K. M., King, A. C., Haskell, W. L., Gillis, D., & Ritter, P. L. (2001). CHAMPS physical activity questionnaire for older adults: outcomes for interventions. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(7), 1126-1141.

Stewart, A. L., Verboncoeur, C. J., McLellan, B. Y., Gillis, D. E., Rush, S., Mills, K. M.,
... Bortz, W. M., 2nd. (2001). Physical activity outcomes of CHAMPS II: a
physical activity promotion program for older adults. *The Journals of*



Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 56(8), M465-470.

- Strauss, E. H., Sherman, E. M., & Spreen, O. (2006). A compendium of neuropsychological tests: Administration, norms, and commentary: Oxford University Press.
- Studenski, S., Perera, S., Patel, K., Rosano, C., Faulkner, K., Inzitari, M., . . . Guralnik, J.
 (2011). Gait speed and survival in older adults. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 305(1), 50-58. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1923
- Studenski, S., Perera, S., Wallace, D., Chandler, J. M., Duncan, P. W., Rooney, E., . . . Guralnik, J. M. (2003). Physical performance measures in the clinical setting. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51(3), 314-322.
- Swan, G. E., & Lessov-Schlaggar, C. N. (2007). The effects of tobacco smoke and nicotine on cognition and the brain. *Neuropsychology Review*, 17(3), 259-273. doi: 10.1007/s11065-007-9035-9
- Talbot, L. A., Gaines, J. M., Huynh, T. N., & Metter, E. J. (2003). A home-based pedometer-driven walking program to increase physical activity in older adults with osteoarthritis of the knee: a preliminary study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51(3), 387-392.
- Taylor, A. H., Cable, N. T., Faulkner, G., Hillsdon, M., Narici, M., & Van Der Bij, A. K. (2004). Physical activity and older adults: a review of health benefits and the effectiveness of interventions. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 22(8), 703-725. doi: 10.1080/02640410410001712421



- Teixeria, C. V. L., Gobbi, L. T. B., Corazza, D. I., Stella, F., Costa, J. L. R., & Gobbi, S. (2011). Non-pharmacological interventions on cognitive functions in older people with mild cognitive impairment (mci). *Archives of Gerentology and Geriatrics,* 54, 175-180.
- Thompson, B. L., Nelson, D. E., Caldwell, B., & Harris, J. R. (1998). Assessment of health risk behaviors: A tool to inform consumers, providers, health care organizations, and purchasers. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 16(1), 48-59.
- Tombaugh, T. N. (2004). Trail Making Test A and B: normative data stratified by age and education. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology: The Official Journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists, 19(2), 203-214. doi: 10.1016/S0887-6177(03)00039-8
- Tombaugh, T. N., Kozak, J., & Rees, L. (1999). Normative data stratified by age and education for two measures of verbal fluency: FAS and animal naming. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology: The Official Journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists, 14(2), 167-177.
- Turner, J. A., Ersek, m., & Kemp, C. (2005). Self-efficacy for managing pain is associated with disability, depression, and pain coping among retirement community residents with chronic pain. *The Journal of Pain: Official Journal of the American Pain Society*, 6(7), 471.
- US Department of Health & Human Services (2008). *Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans*. Bethseda, MD: National Institute of Health.



- Vercambre, M. N., Grodstein, F., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J., & Kang, J. H. (2011). Physical activity and cognition in women with vascular conditions. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 171(14), 1244-1250. doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.282
- Vreugdenhil, A., Cannell, J., Davies, A., & Razay, G. (2012). A community-based exercise programme to improve functional ability in people with Alzheimer's disease: a randomized controlled trial. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 26(1), 12-19. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2011.00895.x
- Weiss, A., Suzuki, T., Bean, J., & Fielding, R. A. (2000). High intensity strength training improves strength and functional performance after stroke. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation / Association of Academic Physiatrists*, 79(4), 369-376; quiz 391-364.
- Weuve, J., Kang, J. H., Manson, J. E., Breteler, M. M., Ware, J. H., & Grodstein, F.
 (2004). Physical activity, including walking, and cognitive function in older
 women. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 292(12), 1454-1461. doi: 10.1001/jama.292.12.1454
- Wimo, A., Jonsson, L., Bond, J., Prince, M., Winblad, B., & Alzheimer Disease, I.
 (2013). The worldwide economic impact of dementia 2010. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 9(1), 1-11 e13. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.006
- Yaffe, K., Barnes, D., Nevitt, M., Lui, L. Y., & Covinsky, K. (2001). A prospective study of physical activity and cognitive decline in elderly women: women who walk. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 161(14), 1703-1708.



Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. O. (1983). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 17(1), 37-49.



www.manaraa.com